Dissertationes Forestales 291

The availability and supply of marketed mushrooms in Eastern Finland

Veera Tahvanainen

School of Forest Sciences The Faculty of Science and Forestry University of Eastern Finland

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science and Forestry of the University of Eastern Finland, for public criticism in F100 of the University of Eastern Finland, Yliopistokatu 7, Joensuu, on 13th March 2020, at 12 o' clock noon.

Title of dissertation: The availability and supply of marketed mushrooms in eastern Finland

Author: Veera Tahvanainen

Dissertationes Forestales 291

https://doi.org/10.14214/df.291 Use licence <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

Thesis Supervisors: Professor Jouni Pykäläinen, School of Forest Sciences, University of Eastern Finland

Principal Scientist Mikko Kurttila, Natural Resources Institute Finland

Senior Scientist Jari Miina, Natural Resources Institute Finland

Pre-examiners: Professor Sami Kurki, Ruralia-Institute, University of Helsinki, Finland

Professor Karin Öhman, Department of Forest Resource Management, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences SLU, Umeå, Sweden

Opponent: Researcher, PhD Kyle Eyvindson, Natural Resources Institute Finland, Helsinki, Finland

ISSN 1795-7389 (online) ISBN 978-951-651-672-4 (pdf)

ISSN 2323-9220 (print) ISBN 978-951-651-673-1 (paperback)

Publishers: Finnish Society of Forest Science Faculty of Agriculture and Forestry at the University of Helsinki School of Forest Sciences of the University of Eastern Finland

Editorial Office: Finnish Society of Forest Science, Dissertationes Forestales Viikinkaari 6, 00790 Helsinki, Finland http://www.dissertationesforestales.fi **Tahvanainen, V.** (2020). The availability and supply of marketed mushrooms in Eastern Finland. Dissertationes Forestales 291. 42 p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.291

ABSTRACT

The use of marketed mushrooms is predicted to increase worldwide. Currently, the marketed mushroom yields in Finland remain largely unutilized, and forest management mainly aims at timber production. In this thesis, the availability and limitations of the raw material procurement and market supply of marketed mushrooms in Eastern Finland were studied. Empirical yield models were formulated for the most marketed species in spruce stands: cep (*Boletus edulis*), milk cap (*Lactarius* spp.) and all marketed mushrooms. Optimal stand management was defined for the joint production of timber and mushrooms. The socially acceptable limits for mushroom picking on private land were investigated through a forest owner survey, and the supply of marketed mushrooms was modeled to study which factors affect the marketed quantities of mushrooms in Eastern Finland.

The results suggest that the Eastern Finnish spruce stands produced their highest mushroom yields right before the first commercial thinning, and precipitation during the yield season promoted the yields. The production of timber and marketed mushrooms was largely in synergy, and if mushrooms are picked for sale, the total soil expectation value (SEV) in good mushroom stands can be remarkable. The forest owners in Eastern Finland expressed some restriction needs for organized commercial picking, but they were otherwise content with the everyman's rights regarding mushroom picking. The supply of marketed mushrooms was affected by biological and economic factors; precipitation had a positive influence on cep and milk cap supplies and market price negatively impacted the supplies of ceps and chanterelles.

The results contribute to a more stable and sustainable raw material supply to the mushroom supply chains by providing novel information on the supply of marketed mushrooms and limits of socially acceptable mushroom picking and by developing concrete tools to integrate mushroom production into forest management planning and to plan for mushroom picking.

Keywords: Multiple use forestry, Non-Wood Forest Products, *Boletus edulis*, *Lactarius* spp., wild edible mushrooms

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The PhD process has been a teaching experience. Every part of the path has been challenging on its own way, but never exhausting nor impossible. The support that I got from my supervisors and people around me was the main reason for the hopeful and positive feeling during the years I worked on the thesis.

I firstly would like to thank my supervisors Dr. Mikko Kurttila and Dr. Jari Miina, who are also behind the idea for the topic of my doctoral thesis. I am thankful that they took me to their research team in The Finnish Forest Research Institute METLA and introduced me to the topic of NWFPs. Thanks to Mikko and Jari I got the best possible supervision and start for my career as a researcher. I also thank my third supervisor Prof. Jouni Pykäläinen for supervising my PhD during the last years, especially related to PhD studies and during summary writing.

I am grateful for the co-authors: Dr. Kauko Salo, Prof. Timo Pukkala, Prof. Teppo Hujala and MSc Tuuli Väkeväinen. Especially, I want to thank Kauko Salo for fruitful discussions related to mushrooms and for sharing his knowledge on the topic. I want to convey my gratitude to Prof. Sami Kurki and Prof. Karin Öhman for pre-examining the thesis and for all the people who have contributed one way or another to the articles that are part of this thesis. I thank The Finnish Forest Research Institute METLA, Natural Resources Institute Finland Luke, StarTree – an EU project on non-wood forest products and University of Eastern Finland Doctoral School for financing the thesis. The work communities in Metla, Luke, StarTree-project and UEF have been welcoming and inspiring and I am grateful for my colleagues for the inspiration and encouragement.

Additionally, the peer support has been irreplaceable! Therefore special thanks go to fellow PhD students in UEF biology and forestry departments. Without them the job would have been much more demanding and way more boring. I specifically want to thank my friends and fellow PhD students Aurora Hatanpää, Daniel Schraik and Thomas Asbeck for great talks about PhD life and career issues, but more importantly I thank for friendship and numerous adventures during these few years. Furthermore, thanks to all my friends for taking my mind off from PhD at times by taking me out to forest, boating, summer cottages, skiing, berry picking, mushroom picking, Montevideo sightseeing, coffee or just out of office.

Lastly I want to thank my family. My parents Liisa Toivonen and Timo Tahvanainen taught me to pick mushrooms and berries and recognize plants. I'm sure, that it is not a co-incidence that I ended up doing the thesis from these topics. Most importantly, they taught me to believe in myself.

Joensuu, February 2020

Veera Tahvanainen

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	3
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	4
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES	
ABBREVIATIONS	
1 INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Marketed mushrooms and their commercial use	9
1.2 Availability of marketed mushrooms to mushroom supply chains	11
1.2.1 Yields of marketed mushrooms	
1.2.2 Forest management and production of marketed mushrooms	
1.2.3 Mushroom picking 1.3 Aim of the research	
2 MATERIALS AND METHODS	
2.1 Yield models and optimizations of stand management	
2.1.1 Sample plot network and mushroom inventory	
2.1.2 Models for marketed mushrooms	
2.1.3 Stand management optimization for timber and mushrooms	
2.2 The social acceptability of picking	
2.2.1 The forest owner survey	
2.2.2 Forest owners' backgrounds	
2.3 The supply of raw material to markets	
2.3.1 Statistics on marketed mushrooms and climate	
3 RESULTS	
3.1 Biological availability	
3.1.1 Yield models for marketed mushrooms	
3.1.2 Optimal stand management for co-production	
3.2 The supply of marketed mushrooms	22
3.3 The social acceptability of picking	23
3.3.1 Forest owners' opinions on the everyman's rights	
3.3.2 Restricting the everyman's rights	
4 DISCUSSION	
4.1 Evaluation of materials and methods	
4.2 Biological yields of marketed mushrooms	26
4.3 Joint production of timber and mushrooms	27
4.4 Factors affecting the supply of marketed mushrooms	27
4.5 Forest owners' roles and possibilities in mushroom markets	28
4.6 Availability and supply of marketed mushrooms through SWOT analysis	29
5 CONCLUSIONS	31
REFERENCES	32

LIST OF ORIGINAL ARTICLES

This dissertation is a collection of four articles and a summary. All articles are reprints of published articles. The articles are reprinted here with the kind permission of the publishers and are referred to in the text by the Roman numerals (**I–IV**).

- I Tahvanainen, V., Miina, J., Kurttila, M., Salo, K. (2016). Modelling the yields of marketed mushrooms in *Picea abies* stands in eastern Finland. Forest Ecology and Management 362: 79–88. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2015.11.040
- II Tahvanainen, V., Miina, J., Pukkala, T., Kurttila, M. (2018). Optimizing the joint production of timber and marketed mushrooms in Picea abies stands in eastern Finland. Journal of Forest Economics 32: 34–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2018.04.002
- III Tahvanainen V., Kurttila M., Miina J., Hujala T., Väkeväinen T., Salo K. (2016). Pohjoiskarjalaisten ja kainuulaisten metsänomistajien mielipide marjastuksesta ja sienestyksestä yksityismetsissä. Metsätieteen aikakauskirja 2/2016: 95–110. https://doi.org/10.14214/ma.5958
- IV Tahvanainen, V., Miina, J., Kurttila, M. (2019). Climatic and economic factors affecting the annual supply of wild edible mushrooms and berries in Finland. Forests 10(5): 385. https://doi.org/10.3390/f10050385

Author's contributions in co-authored articles:

The contribution of Veera Tahvanainen to the articles of this thesis was as follows: Articles I & II: analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript together with co-authors. Article III: planned the study, collected data, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript together with co-authors.

Article IV: planned the study, analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript together with coauthors.

ABBREVIATIONS

CPR	Common pool resource
DSS	Decision support system
FTE	Full-time equivalent
G	Stand basal area
MARSI	Statistics on annual quantities of berries and mushrooms bought by trade and
	industry
Ν	Number of observations
NLMM	Non-linear mixed-effect modelling
NWFP	Non-wood Forest Product
\mathbf{R}^2	Proportion of explained variance
RMSE	Root mean square error
RMSE%	Relative root mean square error
SEV	Soil expectation value
var(·)	Variance component in mixed-effect model

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Marketed mushrooms and their commercial use

The use of wild edible mushrooms among other non-wood forest products (NWFPs) is gaining popularity in Europe (Schulp et al. 2014). Consumer preferences toward healthy and locally produced foods (Kearney 2010; Mithril et al. 2012; Lehikoinen and Salonen 2019) support the consumption of wild edible mushrooms and other NWFPs in Nordic countries (Mithril et al. 2012) as well as globally. Therefore, the commercial use of mushrooms in Europe can also increase in areas that have not traditionally favored mushrooms in their diets (Peintner et al. 2013). Wild edible mushrooms are considered NWFPs, which are defined by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO) as "goods of biological origin other than wood derived from forests, other wooded land and trees outside forests" (FAO 1999). Despite some attempts, the definition of NWFPs remains vague (Mantau et al. 2007; Vidale et al. 2016), and the use and value of NWFPs is therefore impossible to calculate extensively. NWFPs, however, are used all over the world, and their importance for food can be locally remarkable (Arnold et al. 2011; Cai et al. 2011; Strae of Europe's Forests 2015; Rowland et al. 2017).

Marketed mushrooms are edible species with established domestic or international markets, and here, therefore, they are referred to as marketed mushrooms. The official list of 31 species of marketed mushrooms that can be sold for food was maintained by the Finnish Food Safety Authority at the time of the sample plot network's establishment (Suositeltavat ruokasienet 2019). However, since 2012, the list is only regarded as recommended wild edible species. The genus Boletus (e.g., B. edulis), Cantharellus (e.g., C. cibarius) and Lactarius (e.g., L. deliciosus) are important worldwide and have wellestablished markets (Wang and Hall 2004). Particularly B. edulis is highly appreciated in international markets (Sitta and Floriani 2008; Sitta and Davoli 2012). The commercial use of marketed mushrooms has not been extensively documented, and international statistics on their use are likewise incomplete (Vantomme 2003). Yet there are some studies on supply chains of wild edible mushrooms and factors affecting their supply (Voces et al. 2012; Diaz-Balteiro et al. 2013; Alfranca et al. 2015). According to the study on Lactarius spp. markets, the market price had a positive effect on the supply of marketed mushrooms in Spain (Diaz-Balteiro et al. 2013; Alfranca et al. 2015) following the general principles of supply: the higher the price the higher the marketed quantities (Marshall 1890). On the contrary, Kangas (1999) noticed an inverse price-quantity relationship in the markets of cowberries in Finland in the study of the wild edible berry supply.

It is estimated that there are over 200 edible mushroom species in Finland (Jäppinen 1988), from which roughly 30 are used as food (Salo 1995). The most important marketed mushrooms in Finland are *Boletus edulis* Bull. (market statistics also include *B. pinophilus* Pilát and Dermek), *Cantharellus cibarius* Fr. and *Lactarius* spp. (including *L. trivialis* Fr., *L. rufus* [Scop.] Fr. and *L. torminosus* [Schaeff.] Pers.) (MARSI 2018). However, other species are also used and traded in Finland (Figure 1). The wholesalers are buying mushrooms from pickers, and it is estimated that the supply chain of mushrooms provides jobs worth around 600 full-time equivalents (FTEs) (Ristioja 2018). The value added in the mushroom supply chain is low, as most of the mushrooms are exported fresh and frozen.

The raw material scarcity and instability are noted as hindering factors at the markets of wild edible mushrooms in Finland (Rämö et al. 2013).

Due to the strong history of berry and mushroom use, the prices and quantities of marketed mushrooms have been well-documented in Finland since the 1970s (MARSI 2018). Around half a million kilos of mushrooms are picked annually for sale in Finland, which generates an income of more than a million euros for mushrooms pickers. There is a lot of variation in the annual quantities of mushrooms traded in the organized trade and industry, as well as in the prices paid to the pickers (Figure 2). Instability in the supply of raw material is likely to cause instability in the whole supply chain. Although Finnish non-wood forest product markets are rather well documented, the knowledge of factors affecting the supply of marketed mushrooms is still inadequate.



Figure 1. Supply chains of marketed mushrooms in North Karelia (Tahvanainen et al. 2016).



Figure 2. Annual quantities (1000 kg/yr) and deflated prices (\notin /kg) of ceps and milk caps bought by organized trade and industry in Finland in 1978–2018.

1.2 Availability of marketed mushrooms to mushroom supply chains

Marketed mushrooms belong to the fungi kingdom, and the most important marketed mushroom species are ectomycorrhizal mushrooms, which form symbiotic associations with host plants (Smith and Read 1997), primarily trees. Currently, the marketed mushroom yields remain largely unutilized (Ohenoja 2005), and forest management aims at timber production. However, climate change, carbon sequestration and loss of biodiversity are affecting the discussions and policies concerning the use of forest resources (State of Europe's Forests 2015). Most forest owners in Finland declare themselves as multipurpose forest owners (Hänninen et al. 2011). Multiple-use forestry is a growing trend, and hence, practical models and methods for forest management and mushroom production are needed.

The possibility of producing ectomycorrhizal mushrooms by cultivation has been studied, but so far, only a few species have been successfully cultivated (Boa 2004; Wang and Hall 2004). Production models are one way to include the NWFP's production in silviculture. In mushroom production, the term "mycosilviculture" is used (Savoie and Largeteau 2011). In recent decades, NWFPs have also received attention in forest management (Kurttila et al. 2014; Wolfslehner et al. 2014).

1.2.1 Yields of marketed mushrooms

Climatic factors have an influence on the yields of marketed mushrooms. In particular, precipitation positively influences the fruit body production of mycorrhizal mushrooms (Ohenoja 1993; Straatsma et al. 2001; Martínez de Aragón et al. 2007; Krebs et al. 2008; Parladé et al. 2017). According to Ogaya and Peñuelas (2005), drought irrigation (reducing soil water by 15%) resulted in a decrease in mushroom yields in Spain. Similarly, in a Swedish study, water irrigation had a positive effect on mushroom production in general (Wiklund et al. 1995). The monthly mean precipitation and accumulated monthly mean

evapotranspiration of the fruiting season (September and October) and the monthly mean minimum soil temperature in August were used to estimate the annual sporocarp production of ectomycorrhizal and edible forest fungi in Spain (Martínez de Aragón et al. 2007). Temperature also influences the fruiting body production of mushrooms. Straatsma et al. (2001) found that the temperatures in July and August correlated with the fruit body appearance of mushrooms in Switzerland. Ohenoja (1993) estimated that temperature and precipitation explained 19–42% of the annual variation in the biomass of mycorrhizal mushrooms in different forest types in Finland. Studying the effect of climatic factors with the stand variables on mushroom yields is essential since forest density creates special microclimatic conditions.

The yields of mushrooms have been studied in Finland since the first half of the 20th century (Rautavaara 1947). Later, the mushroom yields were studied more in Finland based on the fruit body production (kg/ha/yr) of the mushrooms (Ohenoja and Metsänheimo 1982; Ohenoja 1984; Väre et al. 1996). According to the Finnish national forest inventory data from 1985–1986, the annual yields were 19.3 kg/ha for *Lactarius rufus*, 6.6 kg/ha for *L. trivialis* and 6.1 kg/ha for *Boletus edulis* in mineral soil forests (Salo 1993). However, the yields vary remarkably between stands and years.

1.2.2 Forest management and production of marketed mushrooms

Forest management affects the yields of wild edible mushrooms, and the effects of forest management operations on the mushroom yields have been studied in different countries (Ohenoja 1988; Luoma et al. 2004; Durall et al. 2006; Pilz et al. 2006; Egli et al. 2010; Bonet et al. 2012; de-Miguel et al. 2014; Liu et al. 2016; Parladé et al. 2017). The host plants' photosynthetic activity is connected to the mushroom production of the stand (Kuikka et al. 2003; Bonet et al. 2010; Egli et al. 2010). Due to a symbiotic relationship of trees and fungi, the clear cut or dramatic reduction of host trees remarkably decreases the yields of mycorrhizal mushrooms (Ohenoja 1988; Norwell and Exeter 2004; Durall et al. 2006). Also the sporocarp production of mycorrhizal mushrooms seems to be higher in younger stands, where the wood volume growth is highest (Senn-Irlet and Bieri 1999; Bonet et al. 2000).

The reactions of mushroom yields to thinnings on the other hand depend on numerous factors, e.g., thinning intensity, tree species composition and stand age (Tomao et al. 2017). For example, in a study of Canadian *Tsuga heterophylla* and *Thuja plicata* stands, the response of ectomycorrhizal mushroom production after partial cuttings was studied, and the yields reacted differently depending on the stand structure and tree vigor after stand management operations (Kranabetter and Kroeger 2001). According to Palahí et al. (2009) the thinning of pine stands in Spain first reduced the yields and later increased them, because the stand basal area was reduced to a favorable level for mushrooms. In a Swedish study, the yields of *L. rufus* increased right after thinning (Kardell and Eriksson 1987). A similar result was found with *L. deliciosus* in Spain in *Pinus pinaster* stands (Bonet et al. 2012). Medium thinnings were favorable for *B. edulis* yields in fir stands in Italy (Salerni and Perini 2004).

The current forest planning systems are timber production oriented, but there are some decision support systems (DSSs) developed for NWFPs too (Pukkala 2002). So far, yield models are formulated, for example, for the production of berries (Miina et al. 2009; Turtiainen et al. 2013) and stone pine cones (Calama et al. 2008), but also for mushrooms, such as wild mushrooms in pine stands in Spain (Bonet et al. 2008; Bonet et al. 2010), *L*.

group *deliciosus* and *B. edulis* in pine stands in Spain (Martínez-Peña et al. 2012), mycorrhizal mushrooms and *B. edulis* in *Cistus ladanifer* scrublands in Spain (Hernández-Rodríguez et al. 2015) and *L. deliciosus* and *L. salmonicolor* in Turkey (Kucuker and Baskent 2015). The models can be included in the simulators to produce management schedules and information on the future yields and profitability of the co-production of timber and NWFPs. The stand management optimizations for the co-production of timber and NWFPs have been produced, for example, for berries in Finland (Miina et al. 2016) and mushrooms in Spain (Palahí et al. 2009). It has been shown that changing stand management to produce NWFPs in addition to timber can create additional income for forest owners (Alexander et al. 2002; Palahí et al. 2009; Aldea et al. 2012; De-Miguel et al. 2014; Leonardi et al. 2017).

1.2.3 Mushroom picking

The public right of access and the right to extract goods from privately owned forests varies significantly from one country to another. In Europe the everyman's rights apply in the Northern European countries, but similar rights are practiced in other countries in relation to some NWFPs, too (Nichiforel et al. 2018). In some areas, the picking pressure of NWFPs can be very high, namely, in household and commercial use, which causes conflict among land-owners, local people and pickers. Organized commercial picking has raised questions about the limits of the everyman's rights in Finland (Viljanen and Rautiainen 2007; Peltola et al. 2014) and Sweden (Sténs and Sandström 2013) but also in Spain concerning the mushroom picking and property rights (Górriz-Mifsud et al. 2015). Based on earlier studies, the acceptability of picking was higher if the picker was local rather than non-local (Peltola et al. 2014; Górriz-Mifsud et al. 2015). The threat seems to be that some pickers overuse the resource or act otherwise unfairly, a phenomenon known as the tragedy of commons (Hardin 1968). Commonly-accepted rules on how to use the resources have been suggested as an answer to advance the sustainability of common pool resources (CPRs) (Ostrom et al. 1999).

Mushrooms have been used as food in Finland for decades and the picking culture is strong, especially in Eastern Finland (Jäppinen 1988; Sievänen et al. 2004). The marketed mushrooms are mainly picked for sale by domestic pickers in Finland (MARSI 2018). Of Finnish people, approximately 40% pick mushrooms at least once a year (Sievänen and Neuvonen 2011) and around 1% of Finnish households were picking mushrooms commercially in 2011 (Turtiainen et al. 2012). The everyman's rights allow the picking of mushrooms and berries from forests without permission from the landowner, regardless of the picker's nationality or their reason for picking (Tuunanen et al. 2015). The income from selling mushrooms is tax-free for the pickers. Mushrooms are picked for sale opportunistically, meaning that they are not produced or cultivated. Some of the marketed mushrooms are now picked by organized commercial pickers too, although the majority are still picked by local mushroom pickers (MARSI 2018).

Recreational and commercial picking also occurs on privately owned land. The good mushroom spots are visited several times a year, which means that, locally, the picking pressure can be high, especially near populated areas. There have been conflicts related to the everyman's rights between landowners and people practicing recreational or commercial activities in Finland (Lehtonen et al. 2007; Viljanen and Rautiainen 2007; Rantanen and Valkonen 2013; Rämö et al. 2013; Tuulentie and Rantala 2013; Peltola et al. 2014; Tuunanen et al. 2015). The conflict has mainly centered around organized

commercial berry picking, where a large group of foreign pickers pick berries from a forest area very efficiently. To avoid such problems and ensure that raw material procurement for mushroom supply chains is sustainable, it is essential to find out socially acceptable limitations for commercial mushroom picking.

1.3 Aim of the research

The aim of the dissertation was to study the availability of the raw material procurement and the market supply of wild edible mushrooms in Eastern Finland (Figure 3). The availability of mushroom yields was studied by:

- (I) formulating models for *Boletus edulis*, *Lactarius* spp. and all marketed mushrooms using stand and climate variables as predictors,
- (II) using yield models to optimize the forest management for the joint production of timber and marketed mushrooms: *B. edulis*, *Lactarius* spp. and both *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. and
- (III) investigating the limitations of raw material availability through a forest owner survey to study the socially acceptable limits for mushroom picking on private land. The supply of marketed mushrooms was studied by:
- (IV) formulating models for the marketed quantities of *Boletus* spp., *Lactarius* spp. and *Cantharellus cibarius* as a function of climatic and economic factors.

Overall the study provides novel information on possibilities for multiple use forestry by providing methods of integrating mushroom production into forest management. Developing methods, which can facilitate the raw material harvest, and knowing the socially acceptable limits of picking enable a more stable and sustainable raw material supply to the mushroom supply chains.



Figure 3. The aim of the thesis and research topics.

2 MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Yield models and optimizations of stand management

2.1.1 Sample plot network and mushroom inventory

The sample plot network was established in Eastern Finnish *Picea abies* forests located in the North Karelia (N=52) and Savonia (N=4) regions. It included 56 sample plots from which 50 sample plots were established in 2010 and the network was completed in 2011, 2012 and 2014. Sample plots were located at the boreal coniferous zone (effective temperature sum during the growing season is 1100–1300 d.d. on average, and average rainfall is 340–360 mm) (Finnish Meteorological Institute 2015). The sample plots were 20 m × 20 m (400 m²) in size. They were chosen to represent variety in stand variables and management history, but few sample plots were known potential mushroom forests, and a few sample plots were approaching the first commercial thinning (Figure 1, Article I).

The stand and tree variables were measured from the sample plots at the time of establishment. They included: stand basal area (m^2/ha) , number of stems per ha by tree species, basal area median tree diameter (cm) and height (dm), biological age (years), site type class, and time since last cutting (1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6-10, 11-15, 15-20, 21-30 and 30 years or more). Tree characteristics, the number and mean diameter of stumps, and the distance between the nearest extraction road and the center of the sample plot were measured after the thinnings.

Climatic variables were used for modeling. The data were based on measurements from the meteorological stations of the Finnish Meteorological Institute. The monthly precipitation sums and mean temperatures during 2009–2014 were used as predictors, as well as; effective temperature sum and minimum and maximum daily temperatures.

Marketed mushrooms were inventoried from sample plots during 2010–2014 at the fruiting season approximately once a week until the first frosts (July–September). The mushroom sporocarps of 19 marketed mushroom species were collected, counted and converted into fresh-weight biomass using species-specific conversion factors (Salo 1988); K. Salo, unpublished data). Annual mushroom production (kg/ha/yr) was calculated for each species. Separate models were fitted for *B. edulis, Lactarius* spp. (*L. trivialis, L. torminosus* and *L. rufus*) and all marketed mushrooms. The measured mean annual yields were 5.4 kg/ha for *B. edulis*, 16.4 kg/ha for *Lactarius* spp. and 28.3 kg/ha for all marketed species. The variation between years and sample plots was high.

2.1.2 Models for marketed mushrooms

The annual mushroom yields were modeled as a function of year effects and stand and/or climatic variables. Because of the annual climatic conditions, observations for the same year were cross-correlated, which is why the fixed year effects were used. In total, three yield models were fitted for: *B. edulis, Lactarius* spp. and all marketed mushrooms (including *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp.). A non-linear mixed-effect modeling (NLMM) approach was used to account for between-plot and between-year variations in mushroom yields (Searle et al. 1992). The model for mushroom yields can be written in a general form:

$$y_{ij} = \exp\{f(x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n) + u_i\} + e_{ij}$$
(1)

where y_{ij} is the mushroom yield of plot *i* in year *j* (kg/ha/yr), $f(\cdot)$ is the fixed part of the model, x_1, \ldots, x_n are fixed predictors (i.e., year effects, stand and/or climatic variables), and u_i and e_{ij} are the random plot effect and the residual, respectively (normally distributed with a mean equal to zero).

For the three different mushroom yields (*B. edulis, Lactarius* spp. and all marketed mushrooms), three types of models were fitted by including only the fixed year effects (Model 0 as reference), including the fixed year effects and stand variables (Model 1) and including stand and climate variables as predictors (Model 2) (Tables 3–5, **Article I**). The sources of variation in mushroom yields were examined by comparing these three models.

2.1.3 Stand management optimization for timber and mushrooms

Stand management was optimized by maximizing the soil expectation value (SEV) from mushrooms and timber, timber only and mushrooms only. The mushroom species were *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. and models for predicting mushroom yields (**Article I**) were used. Stand development was simulated in 5-year time steps using the individual-tree models (Pukkala 2009; 2013). The stand with good mushroom yields was used in calculations as it was assumed that they would more likely be managed for mushroom production. The stand was made as a good mushroom stand so that the 90th percentile of the distribution of the random stand effect was added to the yield predictions. Additionally, it was assumed that 90% of the *B. edulis* yield and 75% of the *Lactarius* spp. yield was picked. Mushrooms were not picked if the picking cost exceeded the selling price. A yield reduction was added after the regeneration felling, because the models overestimated the mushroom production felling until 15 years after it.

In optimization, the initial stands represented a *Myrtillus*-type mesic heath site in North Karelia (Finland). The empirical models used for mushrooms were based on Myrtillus- and Oxalis-Myrtillus-type stands (Article I). The stand age was 10 years at the beginning of the simulations, and pre-commercial thinning was assumed to be done. The non-linear programming algorithm of Hooke and Jeeves (1961) was used. The optimization problem was solved 10 times with different randomly generated initial values of decision variables. For each direct search run, 200 random combinations of decision variables were generated and the best combinations (highest SEV) were used as initial solutions of each direct search. When calculating the SEV, all future costs and incomes in timber and mushroom production during the simulated rotation period to infinity were included. The costs and incomes were discounted using a 3% discount rate to the beginning of the rotation. Planting, soil preparation, tending, final cuttings and 0-4 thinnings were included in optimization calculations. The decision variables defining the stand management were as follows: number of years since regeneration (first thinning) or previous thinning (other thinnings), removal percentage in each tree cohort, and number of years between the last thinning and the final cut, type and intensity of thinning.

The costs of operations and prices of wood assortments were obtained from national statistics (http://stat.luke.fi/en/metsa). The prices for mushrooms were based on statistics of wild edible mushroom sales in Finland (MARSI 2014). The mushroom picking costs

included harvesting and travel costs. It was assumed that the picker (forest owner) would drive 10 km per each picking trip and 4 picking trips were done per season. The travel cost was 0.40 ϵ /km. At each picking trip, an average area of 7 ha was covered, resulting in an annual travel cost of 2.29 ϵ /ha. The harvesting cost was calculated using a 6 ϵ /h salary, and with a yield of 15 kg/ha, the harvesting would take 2 h/ha, resulting in a harvesting cost of 12 ϵ /ha. With a higher yield, the harvesting cost increased so that it was doubled when the yield was as high as 60 kg/ha. If the picking cost was higher than the selling price, the mushrooms were not collected.

2.2 The social acceptability of picking

2.2.1 The forest owner survey

Private forest owners were asked their opinion on picking mushrooms and berries for household and commercial use in a mail survey in 2015. The survey was sent to 2000 forest owners from the North Karelia (50%) and Kainuu regions (50%). The forest owners were systematically selected from the Finnish Forestry Center contact list based on their forest holding size. Half the questionnaires were about mushroom picking and half were about berry picking. In the survey information about the respondent's sociodemographic background, forest holding, relationship to forest holding and picking behavior were asked. The everyman's rights from the point of view of picking mushrooms and berries in their different forms were assessed. In detail, the questions addressed the acceptability of household and commercial picking of mushrooms and berries for different picker profiles. The forest owner was asked if picking had caused some troubles or if some forms or effects of the picking disturb them and if they feel the need to restrict picking somehow. The questions were likert-scale, multiple choice and open questions. The non-response analysis was done as a phone survey (N=60) to detect systematic differences in respondents that could cause bias.

The final sample size was 1977 forest owners, and the response rate was 48% (N=953). From the responses, 51% were berry- and 49% mushroom-oriented and about half were from North Karelia (51%) and half from (49%) Kainuu. According to the non-response analysis, forgetting to answer was the most common reason not to answer.

2.2.2 Forest owners' backgrounds

The forest owner profile was compared to the Finnish Forest Owner 2010 survey (Hänninen et al. 2011) and the non-response survey. The forest owners were mainly 60 years or older (64%) and male (70%). Around half of the respondents were retired (52%), and one-third were working. The most common form of forest ownership was family forest owner (70%). The profile of forest owners was significantly different from the Finnish Forest Owner 2010 results (Hänninen et al. 2011): in this study, the number of women and the forest owners' average age were higher, and the share of family and co-operative forest owners were not reached, the share of agricultural entrepreneurs was lower and the share of retired forest owners was higher. About half of the forest owners had a summer house at the forest holding, which was more than in the Finnish Forest Owner survey (30%), but there were fewer people living on their forest holding (30%) than in Finland on average (48%). The

total size of the forest holding in a study area was 54 ha on average, and the distance to the nearest population center averaged 20 km.

The picking activity of the forest owners who replied to the survey was higher than in the non-response survey. Altogether, 92% of forest owners' households picked berries and 70% mushrooms and 10% picked berries and 4% mushrooms to sell. Most forest owners estimated that their forest stands were annually used for berry (79%) and mushroom picking (67%) at least a little, and that the berry yields in their forests were good and their mushroom yields poor. The respondents of the study were participating in mushroom and berry picking more than respondents of the non-response survey.

2.3 The supply of raw material to markets

2.3.1 Statistics on marketed mushrooms and climate

The annual data on mushroom market prices (\notin kg) and quantities (kg) (1978–2016) were obtained from statistics on the annual quantities of berries and mushrooms bought by organized trade and industry (MARSI 2018). The most marketed mushroom species *B. edulis, Lactarius* spp. and *C. cibarius* were included in the analysis. The statistics on *B. edulis* also included *B. pinophilus* since these two species are traded as the same species. *Lactarius* spp. included *L. trivialis, L. rufus* and *L. torminosus* because *Lactarius* spp. are often mixed in markets for the same products (e.g., mushroom salad, soup and sauce). The deflated prices were used in modeling (1949 = 100). Additionally, statistics from the international trade of mushrooms were used in the study (EUROSTAT 2018). Climatic data were obtained from a Finnish Meteorological Institute interpolated dataset (Finnish Meteorological Institute 2018). The climatic data consisted of monthly precipitation sums, monthly mean temperatures, effective temperature sum (threshold value +5 °C) and minimum and maximum daily temperatures of the current and previous years.

2.3.2 Supply models

The species-specific supply functions for *B. edulis*, *Lactarius* spp. and *C. cibarius* were described as linear regression models. The dependent variable was the quantity of mushrooms in organized trade and industry in Finland and climatic and economic factors were used as independent variables.

3 RESULTS

3.1 Biological availability

3.1.1 Yield models for marketed mushrooms

Table 1. Estimates of the parameters, variance components and fitting statistics of the yield models for *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. Models are estimated using year effects and stand variables (Model 1) and stand and climate variables (Model 2). The number of observations was 255 in all models. The fitting statistics using both fixed and random effects are given in parentheses.

•	<i>B. edulis</i> kg/ha	/yr	<i>Lactarius</i> spp. k	g/ha/yr
Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 1	Model 2
Intercept	-1.9819	7.7339**	2.1243***	-0.8144
Year 2010 (ref. 2014)	0.4161		-2.5208***	
Year 2011	1.8743***		0.3535***	
Year 2012	0.6166*		-0.2483**	
Year 2013	0.3267		0.0507	
Stand basal area, m ² /ha	0.1778	0.2727	-0.0179	-0.0255
Stand basal area ² , m ² /ha	-0.0049	-0.0068*	-	
Stand basal area/(Age+5)	2.0907*	2.4462*	1.7435	1.4389
Precip. in Jul. mm		-0.0167***		0.0003
Precip. in Aug. mm		0.0102***		0.0178***
Mean temp. in Aug. °C		-0.6794***		0.1089
var(u)	0.6906	0.9218	0.5611	0.4831
var(e)	32.8	29.6	174.1	335.7
Log likelihood	-844.8	-837.3	-1062.3	-1131.5
R ² , %	20.6 (72.4)	15.5 (75.2)	10.4 (86.4)	8.6 (72.7)
Bias, kg/ha/yr	1.21 (-0.01)	1.20 (0.10)	2.73 (-1.51)	1.61 (-1.91)
Bias%, %	28.7 (-0.2)	28.4 (1.9)	20.0 (-8.4)	10.9 (-10.4)
RMSE, kg/ha/yr	9.10 (5.37)	9.39 (5.08)	31.03 (12.11)	31.33 (17.13)
RMSE%,%	215.4 (98.6)	221.7 (95.2)	227.1 (67.7)	212.0 (93.6)

*, ** and *** Significant at the 0.05, 0.01 and 0.001 levels, respectively.

Models were formulated for *B. edulis, Lactarius* spp. and all marketed mushrooms (including *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp.) using stand and climatic predictors (Tables 3–5, **Article I**). According to the model for predicting the yields of *B. edulis*, the yields were higher when the stand basal grew until it reached 25 m^2 /ha (at the stand age of 25-30 years) (Table 1). After that the yields started to decline. When the climatic variables were considered the model fit improved (Table 3, **Article I**). The precipitation sum in August had a positive effect on yields, and the precipitation sum in July and temperature sum in August negatively affected the yields of *B. edulis*. The proportion of explained variance was 20.6%. In the *Lactarius* spp. yield model, the optimal stand basal area was higher than for *B. edulis* (30 m²/ha), but the stand basal area and age were not significant predictors (Table 1). The proportion of explained variance was 10.4%. If climatic variables were taken into account, the precipitation sum in August positively influenced the yields (Table 4, **Article I**). In the model for all marketed mushrooms, the stand age and basal area were

statistically significant predictors, and the optimal stand basal area was about $25 \text{ m}^2/\text{ha}$ (Table 1). The precipitation sum in August had a positive effect on the yields of all marketed mushrooms, and the precipitation sum in July and temperature sum in August had a negative effect (Table 5, **Article I**). Using climatic predictors instead of fixed year effects did not improve the model fit.

3.1.2 Optimal stand management for co-production

The models in **Article I** (Table 1) were used to optimize the co-production of mushrooms and timber in even-aged *Picea abies* stands in Eastern Finland by maximizing the soil expectation value (SEV). In the optimization the good mushroom stand (90th percentile) and 3% discount rate were used. The optimal two-thinning schedule for the co-production of *B. edulis* and timber consisted of a rotation length of 97 years and two heavy thinnings (Figure 4). The first thinning was done after the peak in the yields of *B. edulis* and the second when the stand basal area reached 24 m²/ha. The total SEV was 655 €/ha. The optimal timber-oriented management schedule was similar to that of co-production, resulting in a total SEV of 652 €/ha if mushrooms were picked for sale. If only the mushroom production was maximized, the rotation length was considerably lower (69 years), and the thinnings were light, aiming at keeping the stand basal area between 18 and 27 m²/ha. The yields peaked at the stand age of 33 years (Figure 1, **Article II**).

In the optimal two-thinnings schedule for the co-production of *Lactarius* spp. and timber, the heavy thinnings from above were done and the rotation length was 97 years (Figure 4). The first thinning was done after the peak in *Lactarius* spp. yields (41 years, basal area 25 m²/ha) (Table 2, **Article II**). The optimal management schedules for coproduction and timber production were very similar. The optimal management schedule for mushrooms only, resulted in a shorter rotation length (69 years) and no thinnings. Although the total SEV was highest in the management schedule with two-thinnings (total SEV 1066 ϵ /ha), the additional SEV from mushrooms was highest with no thinnings (Table 3, **Article II**).

When the co-production of both *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. and timber was maximized, the optimal two-thinning management schedule was similar to the ones with *B. edulis* and timber and *Lactarius* and timber (Figure 4). Only the rotation length was longer (103 years) and the total SEV higher (1539 ϵ /ha), because it included income from both: *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. (Table 4, **Article II**). The timber-oriented management schedule was otherwise similar but had a slightly shorter rotation length. In the optimal mushroom oriented management schedule the thinnings were lighter and done earlier and rotation length was shorter (81 years) (Table 4, **Article II**).



Figure 4. Predicted *B. edulis* (1A), *Lactarius* spp. (2A) and *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. (3A) harvests and development of stand basal area (G) in the optimal two-thinning management schedules of the spruce stand with good mushroom yields and the timber prices at 56/29 \in/m^3 , *B. edulis* 3.1 \in/kg and *Lactarius* spp. 1.7 \in/kg . And the effect of mushroom and timber prices and forest management costs on the optimal two-thinning management schedule of the same stand for *B. edulis* (1B), *Lactarius* spp. (2B) and *B. edulis* and *Lactarius* spp. (3B). When the timber price was $0 \in/m^3$, the stand regeneration and forest management costs were also zero.

3.2 The supply of marketed mushrooms

The supply of *B. edulis* was positively influenced by the precipitation in August (Table 2). The price effect was negative, and the internationalization of markets in the late 1990s (Dummy) caused the price effect to diminish. The climatic and economic variables explained 54% of the variation in annually marketed *B. edulis* quantities.

The marketed *Lactarius* spp. quantities were positively dependent on the precipitation in August (Table 2). The price effect turned negative and was statistically significant in the second half of the study period (1999–2016). Overall, 33% of the variation in annually marketed *Lactarius* spp. quantities was explained by climatic and economic variables.

The precipitation in June and July positively influenced the supply of *C. cibarius* (Table 1). The effect of the price was negative and turned even more negative due to internationalization of the markets (1999–2016). Climatic and economic variables explained 35% of the variation in annually marketed quantities, but the first-order autocorrelation of the residuals was positive and statistically significant, suggesting that the variables were not able to explain the between-year variation well enough.

Table 2. Coefficients of supply models for	or the annual c	quantities of ceps,	milk caps and
chanterelle (1000 kg) bought by organized	trade and indu	ustry in Eastern Fin	land. The data
covered 1978-2016, with 39 total observation	ons.		
Variable	Cens	Milk caps	Chanterelle

	Variable	Ceps	Milk caps	Chanterelle
β_0	Intercept	4.8329***	4.9926***	2.8160***
βı	Precipitation in June and July (mm)			0.0058**
β_2	Precipitation in August (mm)	0.0087*	0.0064*	
β_3	Price (€/kg)	-0.3598**	0.0886	-0.1775**
β_4	Dummy ¹ • Price (€/kg)	0.3158***	-0.4811***	-0.0479
σ_v^2	Error variance	0.8686	0.5050	1.1131
ρ	Autocorrelation coefficient	-0.0023	0.1380	0.6015***
Log	likelihood	-58.9	-47.5	-55.9
Sno	wdon's bias correction ratio	1.3618	1.1948	1.3667
R ² ((%)	53.9	32.5	34.6
RM	SE (1,000 kg/year)	133.5	158.7	8.0
RM	SE% (%)	76.5	62.2	63.5

*, ** and ***: significant at the 0.1, 0.05 and 0.01 level, respectively.

 1 Dummy = 1 in 1999–2016, otherwise dummy = 0.

3.3 The social acceptability of picking

3.3.1 Forest owners' opinions on the everyman's rights

Most of the forest owners were content with the everyman's rights in picking berries and mushrooms in general (Table 3). Of the forest owners who replied to the mushroomoriented survey, 14% had experienced some problems related to mushroom picking and everyman's rights, and 18% experienced mushroom competition in their forest holdings (Table 4, **Article III**).

The forest owners were asked to assess some attributes and effects of picking (Figure 1, **Article III**) based on how disturbing they consider them. The most troubling ones were leaving trash, picking close to houses, leaving marks of picking in nature and leaving traffic and physical markings in nature. Forest owners thought that the most effective ways of advancing the acceptability of picking were: asking permission (73%), negotiating the picking places with forest owner (69%) and informing the forest owner of picking places and times (65%) (Figure 2, **Article III**).

3.3.2 Restricting the everyman's rights

Forest owners felt they should have the right to reserve picking sites for their own use for household picking (58%) or commercial picking for themselves (34%) or others (11%) (Table 6, **Article III**). The more distant the picker and the more organized the picking, the more the forest owners wanted to restrict the picking (Figure 5). The forest owners did not express a need to restrict traditional picking for household use; in fact, 55–94 % would allow it regardless of the picker. However, 31% would allow occasional commercial picking for foreigners and 40% for non-locals. For organized commercial picking, some restrictions were in demand, particularly if the picker was a foreigner or non-local. Not many forest owners were willing to receive money from picking fees.

Table 3. Forest owners'	opinions on the	everyman's rights ir	n mushroom and	berry picking
(N=934).				

Everyman's rights in berry and mushroom picking	%
Very bad practice	3.7
Quite a bad practice	7.7
Partly good, partly bad	24.3
Quite a good practice	38.7
Very good practice	25.6
Total	100



 $0\ \%\ 10\ \%\ 20\ \%\ 30\ \%\ 40\ \%\ 50\ \%\ 60\ \%\ 70\ \%\ 80\ \%\ 90\ \%100\ \%$

Figure 5. The opinion of forest owners on the appropriate rules of picking mushrooms and berries in their forest holdings according to the picker groups and purpose of picking. N= 869–917.

4 DISCUSSION

4.1 Evaluation of materials and methods

The methods used are commonly applied in analyses similar to those in this study. Empirical models were created to predict the annual yields of marketed mushrooms. The stand and tree data for modeling the yields of marketed mushrooms were obtained from Eastern Finnish *Picea abies* stands (**Article I**). The stands were even-aged, mostly planted spruce stands, which were managed mainly for timber production. Comparable data on unmanaged and old (over 100 years) spruce stands would improve the model. In the current data, the highest stand age is 95 years (**Article I**). To observe the effect of thinnings on mushroom yields, more sample plots with different thinning intensities at different stand development stages would be needed. Also, some stands were mixed-species, including birch and pine, until the first commercial thinning. This may have affected the yield response of some mushroom species to thinnings (e.g. pine preferring *Lactarius rufus*) (**Articles I–II**).

The models included climatic variables, which influenced the yields of marketed mushrooms together with stand variables. A more extensive inventory (e.g., observing precipitation on the stands) would enable a more reliable study on the effect of climatic variables on mushroom yields and the joint effect of climatic variables and forest management operations on mushroom yields. Mushroom models were fitted using the non-linear mixed-effect modelling (NLMM) approach to account for the longitudinal data structure with observations correlated at the stand level and cross-correlated at the year level (Searle et al. 1992). According to yield models, the between-stand variation is high, which implies that some plot-level factors are not included (**Article I**). The list of marketed mushrooms considered in the study mainly consisted of ectomycorrhizal mushrooms, but also a few species that are not mycorrhizal. Logically, the species-specific models would be more precise. Although the market statistics for *B. edulis* also include *B. pinophilus*, because they are not separated in trade, the models are only prepared for spruce stands, where *B. edulis* grows. A similar inventory in pine stands would be needed.

The yield models were used to optimize the suitable stand management for the coproduction of timber and mushrooms in Eastern Finnish spruce stands with good mushroom yields (**Article II**). The stand management was optimized with the simulation-optimization system, which finds the optimal combination of decision variables (timing, type and intensity of thinnings and rotation length) using the nonlinear programming algorithm of Hooke and Jeeves (1961). The calculations included timber prices, mushroom prices and all production and harvesting costs for timber and mushrooms. The study was unique in the sense that the mushroom picking cost function (picking and transportation costs) was included in the optimization calculations to obtain more realistic results. In the calculations, the good mushroom stands (90th percentile of the random plot effect) were used to see if the inclusion of mushroom incomes would affect the optimal stand management (**Article II**). Since the joint production-oriented stand management did not differ much from the timberoriented management schedule, there is no need to optimize the management for average mushroom stands separately.

The data on annual quantities of berries and mushrooms bought by organized trade and industry in Finland are collected from statistics over 39 years (**Article IV**). However, the statistics do not include different quality classes (classes I, II and III) of ceps that all have different prices; also, the import and export statistics would most likely improve the supply models. Additionally, weekly or, at least, monthly data would be more suitable to detect the price-quantity relationships better. For example, in the Spanish study, weekly data were used (Alfranca et al. 2015). The linear regression models were prepared for the supply of mushrooms assuming the first-order autocorrelation of the residuals. The significant first-order autocorrelation coefficients implied that the climatic and economic factors could not describe the between-year variation in the quantities supplied, and that some predictors were still missing.

The mail survey was conducted to ask the opinions of private forest owners on picking mushrooms and berries for household and commercial use. A mail survey was used instead of an online survey (by email) because the average age of forest owners is high. In the forest owner survey the response rate was rather high (48%), and the total number of responses was high enough (N=953). However, compared to the non-response survey respondents, the respondents of mail survey were more likely pickers them-selves, which likely affected the results regarding their willingness to restrict picking. In addition, the respondents were older on average than forest owners in general (Hänninen et al. 2011), and that may also have affected the results in a similar way because, according to the results, older forest owners were more eager to restrict picking in their forest holdings (Article III).

4.2 Biological yields of marketed mushrooms

The yields of marketed mushrooms are notable in even-aged eastern Finnish spruce stands but the yield variation between stands and years is high ranging from 28 kg/ha/yr to 298 kg/ha/yr. The average annual yield of *B. edulis* was 5.4 kg/ha/yr, *Lactarius* spp. 16.4 kg/ha/yr and the total yield 28.3 kg/ha/yr (**Article I**). The total yield of all marketed mushrooms mainly consisted of *Lactarius* spp. and *B. edulis*. Especially *Lactarius* spp. yields were lower than in the study of Salo (1993), but the yields of *B. edulis* were more similar: *B. edulis* to be 6.1 kg/ha (Salo 1993). The lower yields of *Lactarius* spp. in this study are possibly due to the fact that the abundant *Lactarius rufus* mostly prefers pine stands and not spruce, where the sample plots of this study were located. It has been estimated that, in Southern Finland, the average yields of mushrooms vary between 29 and 60 kg/ha/yr, and the share of edible mushrooms from that would be roughly 20–70% (Ohenoja 2005).

The highest yields of marketed mushrooms were obtained in stands with a stand age of 30-35 years and a stand basal area of around 25 m^2 /ha (**Article I**). Also, in a study of *B. edulis* yields in Spain, in *Pinus sylvestris* stands, the preferable stand basal area was not too high or too low (Martínez-Peña et al. 2012). Additionally, it was studied that in oak stands in the Netherlands, *B. edulis* preferred rather young and medium old stands (Keizer and Arnolds 1994). However, the tree species were different and, therefore, not directly comparable.

The results suggested that the yields of marketed mushrooms in Eastern Finnish spruce stands are highest right before the first commercial thinning (Article I). The stand volume increment is peaking at the same time as the marketed mushroom yields of this study (Vuokila and Väliaho 1980). Similarly, it has been pointed out in several earlier studies that the yields of mycorrhizal mushrooms are high at the younger stands, where tree growth is also good (Senn-Irlet and Bieri 1999; Smith et al. 2002; Bonet et al. 2008; Egli et al. 2010; Tomao et al. 2017). Sporocarp production has also been found to be higher in young stands (20-30 years) in Finland (Hintikka 1988) and Estonia (Kalamees and Silver 1988). Especially the most abundant species, *Lactarius* spp. and *B. edulis*, seem to prefer younger stands. The peak of mushroom production at the time of maximal stand growth would support the photosynthate allocation theory, which suggests that the tree would primarily use the photosynthates to grow, and after that, it would allocate the photosynthates to its roots (Waring 1987; Egli et al. 2010). It seems apparent that sporocarp production is connected to carbohydrate production of the host tree (Kranabetter and Kroeger 2001; Pilz and Molina 2002; Sato et al. 2012; Primicia et al. 2016). On the contrary, B. edulis sporocarp production was higher in older stands in *Pinus sylvestris* forests in Spain (Martinez-Peña et al. 2012) and mature stands in Finland (Hintikka 1988). In French deciduous stands B. edulis was considered to be an early-stage fungi (Buée et al. 2011). However, the connections between tree growth, climatic conditions and sporocarp production are trivial and difficult to study or interpret due to the complexity of forest ecosystems (Collado et al. 2019).

Climatic factors influence the emergence of sporocarps: precipitation in the fruiting season in August promoted the yields of marketed mushrooms and the precipitation sum in July and mean temperature in August negatively affected yields (**Article I**). Also, Ohenoja (1993) discovered that precipitation favored the yields of mycorrhizal mushrooms in

Finnish heath forests. Also in the earlier literature, the precipitation in the fruiting season had a positive effect on the production of mycorrhizal mushrooms (Ogaya and Peñuelas 2005; Martínez de Aragón et al. 2007; Parladé et al. 2017). It has been suggested that climatic factors would affect the yields directly and indirectly through the host tree (Krebs et al. 2008; Primicia et al. 2016). Studying the effect of climatic factors on the phenology of marketed mushrooms would provide valuable information for example, to predict the appropriate picking times from the basis of weather.

4.3 Joint production of timber and mushrooms

According to the National Forest Inventory, the total area of spruce stands located on mineral soils in North Karelia that would be at the right stand development stage for producing marketed mushroom yields is 207 000 ha (Antti Ihalainen, Luke, personal comm.). This area of potential mushroom spruce stands excludes regeneration areas and young seedling stands. Thus, there is a notable potential for utilizing marketed mushrooms in North Karelian forests. To improve preconditions for the use of this potential the stand management was optimized for the joint production of timber and mushrooms.

The optimal management of timber only and the joint production of timber and *B. edulis* did not differ much (Table 2, **Article II**). Therefore, to produce *B. edulis* and timber, the management schedule of spruce stands would not have to be changed from that of timberoriented. The reactions to thinnings, however, are less evident. In this study, the results suggested that thinning would promote the *B. edulis* yields so that they could recover after the thinnings and, more so after the first commercial thinning (Figure 4). A higher production of fruit bodies in medium thinned stands is also found in an Italian fir stands study (Salerni and Perini 2004). However, for reliable results on suitable thinning intensity for *B. edulis* yields, there should be more thinned stample plots and more diverse thinning intensities on the sample plot network.

The stand management for *Lactarius* spp. was more approximate, as the yield model included three species: *Lactarius* genus: *L. rufus, L. trivialis* and *L. torminosus*, each with their own habitat requirements. The optimal stand management for *Lactarius* spp. and timber was also similar to timber-oriented stand management, partly because the peak at *Lactarius* spp. yields is around the first thinning phase of the stand development (Figure 4) and partly because of the low value (ϵ/kg) of *Lactarius* spp. The optimal stand basal area for the *Lactarius* spp. yield was about 30 m²/ha, which was somewhat higher than for *B. edulis* (Article I), and therefore, thinnings negatively affect the *Lactarius* spp. yields (Figure 4), and the optimal *Lactarius* spp. production-oriented stand management would be without thinnings. Conversely, in earlier studies the yields of *Lactarius rufus* have been observed to react positively in thinnings (Kardell and Eriksson 1987) and cuttings (to seed tree position) (Paulus et al. 1995). *Lactarius rufus* prefers *Pinus sylvestris* stands, and this has likely skewed the results of this study.

4.4 Factors affecting the supply of marketed mushrooms

As mentioned, climatic variables affect the marketed quantities of mushrooms, which indicates that their biological yield is an important factor in determining the mushroom markets (Table 2). The total precipitation in August influenced the quantities of ceps and milk caps positively, and the total precipitation in June and July positively influenced the quantities of chanterelles entering the markets. The results are in line with the finding of the yield study: mushroom yields were promoted by precipitation during fruiting season (**Article I**). The results are also supported by other studies, in which precipitation positively influenced the yields of mushrooms (Ohenoja 1993; Krebs et al. 2008; Parladé et al. 2017). The biological availability of mushrooms for sale does, of course, also influence other factors, such as the stand variables (**Article I**) and climatic variables other than precipitation.

In addition, the availability of marketed mushrooms for sale is influenced by economic factors. According to the results, the market price of mushrooms affected their marketed quantities (Article IV). The price paid to pickers had a negative effect on the quantities of ceps and chanterelles (Table 2). Arguably, in years with high yields, the prices were lower, and in poor crop years, the wholesalers had to pay higher prices. In similar studies in Spain, the price effect on the weekly supply of wild edible mushrooms was positive (Diaz-Balteiro et al. 2013; Alfranca et al. 2015), but in a Finnish study, the annually aggregated supply of cowberries was negatively affected by price (Kangas 1999). The mushroom markets have been globalizing since the late 1990s, e.g., due to new member states joining the European Union. Competition in the mushroom and berry markets has also increased. The results suggest that a decrease in the effect of price on the marketed quantities of ceps in the second half of the study period (1995 - 2016) could be because the cep markets are in Southern Europe, and therefore, the price of ceps is no longer determined only in Finland, but rather elsewhere in Europe. Also, the price effect on marketed milk cap quantities was negatively affected by globalization, but the price effect of chanterelles was not affected, since its markets are largely domestic.

Clearly, a picker's willingness to pick mushrooms for sale is one of the factors that affect the supply, but in the case of mushrooms, there were no appropriate statistics on commercial pickers available. Also, factors other than price affecting the decision to sell mushrooms are unknown.

4.5 Forest owners' roles and possibilities in mushroom markets

Forest owners generally consider the everyman's rights as a good practice (Table 3). Based on earlier studies, the everyman's rights have strongly been supported in Finland (Viljanen and Rautiainen 2007; Silvennoinen and Sievänen 2011). On the other hand, the forest owners express the need to restrict organized commercial picking on private lands without permission (Figure 3). Organized commercial picking is clearly different than traditional occasional picking for commercial or household use. It might be that the forest owners do not consider organized commercial picking as part of the nature of the everyman's right (Peltola et al. 2014). According to the results, picking by local pickers was more acceptable than by non-local pickers or foreigners (Figure 3). Similar findings on local customary rules (Ostrom et al. 1999) of mushroom picking can be seen, for example, in Catalonia (Górriz-Mifsud et al. 2015). Following this rationale, the picker companies could increase the acceptability of organized commercial picking using rather light methods: asking permission or negotiating picking places and informing forest owners about picking times and places. Forest owners want to know what is happening in their forest holdings. According to the results, the forest owners were not willing to receive payment from pickers for picking on their land (Figure 5). In a Spanish study, the mushroom picking fee was supported among forest owners who perceive mushrooms as their property, and the ones who perceive picking as a free-access activity did not want it restricted (Górriz-Mifsud et al. 2017).

According to the results, at stands that produce good mushroom yields, if mushrooms are picked and sold, the total SEV is remarkably higher than the SEV without mushrooms (Table 4, Article II). The production of *B. edulis* was largely in synergy with timber production, competing only near the maximal yields (Figure 7, Article II). Similar results were found in a study regarding trade-offs at near-maximal production levels of several NWFPs (including mushrooms) and timber in Finland (Peura et al. 2016; Kurttila et al. 2018). These results were expected, because in the studies of Peura et al. (2016) and Kurttila et al. (2018), the model for B. edulis was the same or based on the same data as in this study. In the joint production of timber and mushrooms, the forest owner can prolong the picking period by up to 7 years without remarkably affecting the total SEV (Table 4, Article II). The first commercial thinning should not be done before the stand age of 25– 30, which is the peak of mushroom yields (Figure 5). Of course, in this study, only B. edulis and *Lactarius* spp. were considered, but there can also be other marketed mushroom species producing yields (e.g., Russula spp., Cantarellus spp.). Accounting for NWFPs in forest management has also increased the total SEV from forests according to other studies as well (Palahí et al. 2009; De-Miguel et al. 2014; Miina et al. 2016), which makes it a desirable opportunity for forest owners.

In addition to commercial use, wild edible mushrooms are important as food picked and consumed directly in households. The recreational value of picking is very important, and the models can, for example, be used to produce information on potential picking places. This option could suit special forest owners such as the state, municipalities and other public actors, who want to provide services for citizens.

4.6 Availability and supply of marketed mushrooms through SWOT analysis

The purpose of a supply chain SWOT analysis is to summarize the results of this and earlier studies on the supply of marketed mushrooms from the point of view of a company operating in mushroom markets in Eastern Finland (Table 4). SWOT analysis consists of strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats that can be recognized in mushroom-related businesses in the light of this and other studies. The strengths are related to the existing structures and traditions that are beneficial for the mushroom markets, whereas the weaknesses consist of several issues mainly related to the profitability of mushroom picking and high competition in the markets. There are multiple opportunities in the markets due to a high and possibly growing demand of mushrooms and possibilities to enhance the profitability of mushroom raw material procurement. Issues related to decreasing sustainability and low competitiveness of mushroom businesses are still possible threats.

Table 4. SWOT-analysis summarizing the results of this and earlier studies on the availability and supply of marketed mushrooms from the point of view of a company operating in mushroom markets in Eastern Finland.

operating in mushroom markets in Eastern F	inland.
Strengths	Weaknesses
 There are a lot of potential stands producing marketed mushrooms and the production of timber and mushrooms are largely in synergy (Articles I-II). Forest owners do not want to restrict the occasional commercial picking of mushrooms (Article III). The traditions in trading and utilizing mushrooms, especially <i>B. edulis</i>, are strong. Selling mushrooms and berries is tax-free for the pickers and broad everyman's rights enable easy access to raw material. 	 -Only a few mushroom species have existing markets (MARSI 2018). -Between-year variation in mushroom yields is high and remains unexplained (Article I). -The market price for <i>B. edulis</i> is determined by European markets rather than domestic ones, and the picker price is considered low (Article IV). -Weak profitability of commercial picking due to low prices, high picking costs and high yield variation (Articles I-II, IV). -High recreational picking rate (Turtiainen et al. 2012) reduces possibilities for domestic markets (Sievänen and Neuvonen 2011).
Opportunities	Threats
 Yield models for mushrooms help in planning mushroom picking and enhancing mushroom production (Articles I–II). More results on, e.g., the quality of ceps and the effect of thinning on mushroom yields enable more efficient stand management for joint production (Articles I–II). Climatic effects on mushroom yields are known, which helps in planning the picking period (Article I). Use of NWFPs in Europe is growing (Schulp et al. 2014). There is interest among forest owners to participate in NWFP production (Tahvanainen and Kurttila 2017). Profitability of picking can be increased by utilizing social media and evolving digital services to plan picking (e.g., mushroom maps). Forest owners' goals are diversifying creating new possibilities for diversified production (Häyrinen 2019). 	 -Dialogue between forest owners and commercial pickers is needed if (organized) commercial picking becomes more popular (Article III, Górriz-Mifsud et al. 2017). -Sustainability of NWFP businesses can be neglected if forest owners and the local community are not involved in business (Hamunen et al. 2019) -Due to the everyman's rights, anyone can pick the mushrooms, so it is not profitable for the forest owner to contribute to mushroom production. -Climate change may further increase the yield variations (Büntgen et al. 2015; Kauserud et al. 2008; Kauserud et al. 2015; Kauserud et al. 2008; Kauserud et al. 2012), e.g., due to expected negative effects on Norway spruce growth caused by drought (Kellomäki et al. 2005). -The competitiveness of Finnish NWFPs is low compared to Eastern Europe, where production costs are lower and markets closer.

5 CONCLUSIONS

This thesis provides novel information on the availability and supply of marketed mushrooms by producing yield models and optimal stand management for the coproduction of timber and marketed mushrooms and by clarifying the socially sustainable limits for commercial mushroom picking. According to empirical yield models there are a lot of potential spruce stands producing mushrooms in Eastern Finland. Climatic variables, especially warm pre-season and wet conditions during the fruiting season (August), promoted the yields of marketed mushrooms. The highest Boletus edulis yields were obtained just before the first thinning and those of *Lactarius* spp. slightly later. The optimal stand management for both timber and *B. edulis* and timber and *Lactarius* spp. was similar to that for timber production only, and therefore, their production competes only near maximal yields. Consequently, with the current mushroom and timber prices, the production of timber and marketed mushrooms is largely in synergy. In stand producing good mushroom yields, the incomes from mushroom picking greatly increased the total SEV up to four times higher compared to the SEV of mere timber production. This makes it a low-threshold opportunity to consider mushrooms as part of the production matrix for the forest owner. The optimization calculations included the mushroom picking cost function, which was new in the field and enables more realistic calculations.

The biological yield of mushrooms, which is strongly dependent on climatic factors, affects the supply of marketed mushrooms in Eastern Finland. Precipitation during the yield season favored both the yield and supply. Surprisingly, the market price had a negative effect on the marketed quantities of ceps and milk caps. Apparently, when the biological yield is high, the wholesalers pay a lower price to the pickers. The NWFP markets have become more international since the late 1990s, and this has modified the price-quantity relationships of ceps and milk caps. The supply is affected by numerous factors, which were not included in the analysis. Export and import statistics, applying weekly or monthly data of marketed mushroom quantities and prices and considering the effects of storages would improve the understanding of the marketed mushroom supply in Finland. The quality of ceps also affects the prices paid to pickers and should be included in the supply analysis, as well as in the yield model.

To secure the acceptability of the mushroom businesses, it is important to consider the opinions and expectations of forest owners on matters concerning their premises. According to the forest owner survey, forest owners were not willing to restrict traditional picking to household use, whereas for organized commercial picking, some restrictions were in demand. The acceptability of commercial mushroom picking, however, could be improved by generating dialogue between land owners and berry and mushroom enterprises and also by distributing good picking practices, especially if commercial picking will increase.

The results improved the possibilities of taking mushrooms into account in forest management and, hence, contributed to advance multiple-use of forests. Knowledge of mushroom markets' behavior promotes a more stable supply chain of mushrooms in Finland. The models for the yields of marketed mushrooms enable the prediction of mushroom yields, along with the development of spruce stands. One application is to use the models to produce information on suitable picking sites, which can improve the planning of mushroom picking. A future challenge is to distribute the findings to forest owners, actors in mushroom businesses and mushroom pickers.

REFERENCES

Aldea, J., Martínez-Peña, F., Diaz-Balteiro, L. (2012). Integration of Fungal Production in Forest Management using a Multi-Criteria Method. European Journal of Forest Research 131: 1991–2003. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-012-0649-y

Alexander, S.J., Pilz, D., Weber, N.S., Brown, E.D., Rockwell, V.A. (2002). Mushrooms, Trees, and Money: Value Estimates of Commercial Mushrooms and Timber in the Pacific Northwest. Environmental management 30: 129–141. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2610-1

Alfranca, O., Voces, R., Diaz-Balteiro, L. (2015). Influence of Climatic and Economic Variables on the Aggregated Supply of a Wild Edible Fungi (Lactarius Deliciosus). Forests 6: 2324–2344. https://doi.org/10.3390/f6072324

Arnold, M., Powell, B., Shanley, P., Sunderland, T.C.H. (2011). EDITORIAL: Forests, Biodiversity and Food Security. International Forestry Review 13: 259–264. https://doi.org/10.1505/146554811798293962

Boa, E., Ed.Wild Edible Fungi. (2004). A Global Overview of their use and Importance to People. Non-Wood Forest Products Series no 17. FAO. Rome, Italy.

Bonet, J.A., Palahí, M., Colinas, C., Pukkala, T., Fischer, C.R., Miina, J., Martinez de Aragón, J. (2010). Modelling the Production and Species Richness of Wild Mushrooms in Pine Forests of the Central Pyrenees in Northeastern Spain. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 40: 347–356. https://doi.org/10.1139/X09-198

Bonet, J.A., Pukkala, T., Fischer, C.R., Palahí, M., Martínez de Aragón, J., Colinas, C. (2008). Empirical Models for Predicting the Production of Wild Mushrooms in Scots Pine (*Pinus Sylvestris* L.) Forests in Central Pyrenees. Annals of Forest Science. 65: 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1051/forest:2007089

Bonet, J.A., de-Miguel, S., Martínez de Aragón, J., Pukkala, T., Palahí, M. (2012). Immediate effect of thinning on the yield of *Lactarius* group deliciosus in *Pinus pinaster* forests in Northeastern Spain. Forest Ecology and Management 265: 211–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2011.10.039

Buée, M., Maurice, J., Zeller, B., Andrianarisoa, S., Ranger, J., Courtecuisse, R., Marçais, B., Le Tacon, F. (2011). Influence of tree species on richness and diversity of epigeous fungal communities in a French temperate forest stand. Fungal Ecology 4: 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2010.07.003 Büntgen, U., Egli, S., Galván, D., Diez, J.M., Aldea, J., Latorre, J., Martínez-Peña, F. (2015). Drought-induced changes in the phenology, productivity and diversity of Spanish fungi. Fungal Ecology 16: 6–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.funeco.2015.03.008

Cai, M.; Pettenella, D.; Vidale, E. Income Generation from Wild Mushrooms in Marginal Rural Areas. Forest Policy and Economics 2011, *13*, 221–226. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2010.10.001

Calama, R., Gordo, F.J., Mutke, S., Montero, G. (2008). An empirical ecological-type model for predicting stone pine (*Pinus pinea* L.) cone production in the Northern Plateau (Spain). Forest Ecology and Management 255: 660–673. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.09.079

Collado, E., Bonet, J.A., Camarero, J.J., Egli, S., Peter, M., Salo, K., Martínez-Peña, F., Ohenoja, E., Martín-Pinto, P., Primicia, I., Büntgen, U., Kurttila, M., Oria-de-Rueda, J.A., Martínez-de-Aragón, J., Miina, J., de-Miguel, S. (2019). Mushroom productivity trends in relation to tree growth and climate across different European forest biomes. Science of the total environment 689: 602–615. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.06.471

De-Miguel, S., Pukkala, T., Yeşil, A. (2014). Integrating pine honeydew honey production into forest management optimization. European Journal of Forest Research 133: 423–432. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-013-0774-2

de-Miguel, S., Bonet, J.A., Pukkala, T., Martinez de Aragón, J. (2014). Impact of forest management intensity on landscape-level mushroom productivity: A regional model based scenario analysis. Forest Ecology and Management 330: 218–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2014.07.014

Diaz-Balteiro, L., Alfranca, O., Voces, R. (2013). Market of *Lactarius deliciosus* modelling the supply in Spain. Itea-Informacion Tecnica Economica Agraria 109: 370–389.

Durall, D.M., Gamiet, S., Simard, S.W., Kudrna, L., Sakakibara, S.M. (2006). Effects of clear cut logging and tree species composition on the diversity and community composition of epigeous fruit bodies formed by ectomycorrhizal fungi. Canadian Journal of Botany 84: 966–980. https://doi.org/10.1139/b06-045

Egli, S., Ayer, F., Peter, M., Eilmann, B., Rigling, A. (2010). Is forest mushroom productivity driven by tree growth? Results from a thinning experiment. Annals of Forest Science 67: 509–509. https://doi.org/10.1051/forest/2010011

Eurostat: Database. (2018). https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/data/database [cited 10 April 2018].

FAO (1999). Towards a Harmonized Definition of Non-Wood Forest Products. Unasylva 50(198): 63–64.

Finnish Meteorological Institute. (2015). https://ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/terminen-kasvukausi [Cited: 2 April 2015].

Finnish Meteorological Institute. (2018). https://ilmatieteenlaitos.fi/terminen-kasvukausi [Cited: 10th April 2018]

Górriz-Mifsud, E., Domínguez-Torres, G., Prokofieva, I. (2015). Understanding forest owners' preferences for policy interventions addressing mushroom picking in Catalonia (North-East Spain). European Journal of Forest Research 134: 585–598. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-015-0874-2

Górriz-Mifsud, E., Marini Govigli, V., Bonet, J.A. (2017). What to do with mushroom pickers in my forest? Policy tools from the landowners' perspective. Land Use Policy 63: 450–460. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2017.02.003

Hamunen, K., Kurttila, M., Miina, J., Peltola, R., Tikkanen, J. (2019). Sustainability of nordic non-timber forest product-related businesses – A case study on bilberry. Forest Policy and Economics 109: 102002. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2019.102002

Hänninen, H., Karppinen, H., Leppänen, J. (2011) Suomalainen metsänomistaja 2010. Metla Working Papers 208: 94p.

Hardin, G. (1968). Tragedy of the Commons. Science 162: 1243–1248. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.162.3859.1243

Häyrinen, L. (2019). Finnish forest owner objectives as indicators for a diversifying use of forests on the road to a bioeconomy. Dissertationes Forestales 280. 54p. https://doi.org/10.14214/df.280

Hernández-Rodríguez, M., De-Miguel, S., Pukkala, T., Oria-de-Rueda, J., Martín-Pinto, P. (2015). Climate-sensitive models for mushroom yields and diversity in *Cistus ladanifer* scrublands. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 213: 173–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2015.07.001

Hintikka, V. (1988). On the macromycete flora in oligotrophic pine forests of different ages in south Finland. Acta Botanica Fennica 136: 89–94.

Hooke, R., Jeeves, T.A. (1961). "Direct search" solution of numerical and statistical problems. Journal of Association for Computing Machinery 8: 212–229. https://doi.org/10.1145/321062.321069

Jäppinen, J. (1988). Wild mushrooms as food in Finland. Mycologist 2: 99–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0269-915X(88)80067-3

Kalamees, K., Silver, S. (1988). Fungal productivity of pine heaths in North-West Estonia. Acta Botanica Fennica 136: 95–98.

Kangas, K. (1999). Trade of main wild berries in Finland. Silva Fennica 33: 159–168. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.665 Kardell, L., Eriksson, L. (1987). Kremlor, Riskor. Soppar-Skogsbruksmetodemas inverkan av produktionen av matsvampar. Sveriges Skogsvardsförbunds Tidskrift 2: 3–23.

Kauserud, H., Stige, L.C., Vik, J.O., Halvorsen, R., Høiland, K., Stenseth, N.C. (2008). Mushroom fruiting and climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105: 3811–3814. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0709037105

Kauserud, H., Heegaard, E., Büntgen, U., Halvorsen, R., Egli, S., Senn-Irlet, B., Krisai-Greilhuber, I., Dämon, W., Sparks, T., Norden, J., Høiland, K., Kirk, P., Semenov, M., Boddy, L., Stenseth, N.C. (2012). Warming-Induced Shift in European Mushroom Fruiting Phenology. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109: 14488–14493. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1200789109

Kearney, J. (2010). Food Consumption Trends and Drivers. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 365: 2793–2807. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2010.0149

Keizer, P.J., Arnolds, E. (1994). Succession of ectomycorrhizal fungi in roadside verges planted with common Oak (*Quercus Robur* L.) in Drenthe, the Netherlands. Mycorrhiza 4: 147–159. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00203533

Kellomäki, S., Strandman, H., Nuutinen, T., Peltola, H., Korhonen, K., Väisänen, H. (2005). Adaptation of forest ecosystems, forests and forestry to climate change. Finnish Environment Institute Mimeographs 334.

Kranabetter, J.M., Kroeger, P. (2001). Ectomycorrhizal mushroom response to partial cutting in a western hemlock - western redcedar forest. Canadian Journal of Forest Research 31: 978-987. https://doi.org/10.1139/x01-034

Krebs, C.J., Carrier, P., Boutin, S., Boonstra, R., Hofer, E. (2008). Mushroom crops in relation to weather in the southwestern Yukon. Botany 86: 1497–1502. https://doi.org/10.1139/B08-094

Kucuker, M.D., Baskent, E.Z. (2015). Spatial prediction of *Lactarius deliciosus* and *Lactarius salmonicolor* mushroom distribution with logistic regression models in the Kızılcasu planning unit, Turkey. Mycorrhiza 25: 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-014-0583-6

Kuikka, K., Härmä, E., Markkola, A., Rautio, P., Roitto, M., Saikkonen, K., Ahonen-Jonnarth, U., Finlay, R., Tuomi, J. (2003). Severe defoliation of scots pine reduces reproductive investment by ectomycorrhizal symbionts. Ecology 84: 2051–2061. https://doi.org/10.1890/02-0359

Kurttila, M., Miina, J., Tahvanainen, V. (2014). 3.2.3 Decision support systems. In: Wong, J.L.G., Prokofieva, I. (ed.) Report Presenting Synthesis of Regional Sectoral Reviews to Describe the "State of the European NWFP", StarTree deliverable D1.3. 9. p. 52–55.

Kurttila, M., Pukkala, T., Miina, J. (2018). Synergies and trade-offs in the production of NWFPs predicted in Boreal forests. Forests 9: 417. https://doi.org/10.3390/f9070417

Lehikoinen, E., Salonen, A.O. (2019). Food preferences in Finland: Sustainable diets and their differences between groups. Sustainability 11: 1259. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11051259

Lehtonen, S., Heikkinen, T., Hirvonen, J. (2007). Jokamiehenoikeuksien tulkintoja ja haasteita luontoliikunnan ja matkailun kannalta. Maaseutupolitiikan yhteistyöryhmän julkaisuja 1: 74p.

Leonardi, P., Graziosi, S., Zambonelli, A., Salerni, E. (2017). The Economic importance of mushrooms in an artificial *Pinus Nigra* forest. Italian Journal of Mycology 46: 48-59.

Liu, B., Bonet, J.A., Fischer, C.R., Martínez de Aragón, J., Bassie, L., Colinas, C. (2016). *Lactarius deliciosus* Fr. soil extraradical mycelium correlates with stand fruitbody productivity and is increased by forest thinning. Forest Ecology and Management 380: 196–201. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2016.08.053

Luoma, D.L., Eberhart, J.L., Molina, R., Amaranthus, M.P. (2004). Response of ectomycorrhizal fungus sporocarp production to varying levels and patterns of green-tree retention. Forest Ecology and Management 202: 337–354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.07.041

Mantau, U., Wong, J.L.G., Curl, S. (2007). Towards a taxonomy of forest goods and services. Small-scale Forestry 6: 391–409. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11842-007-9033-z

Marshall, A. (1890). Principles of Economics. 8th ed. Macmillian and Co. London. 627 p.

MARSI 2014. (2015). Luonnonmarjojen ja -sienten kauppaantulomäärät vuonna 2018. Maaseutuvirasto, Seinäjoki. Raportteja ja selvityksiä 3/2015. 53 p.

MARSI 2018. (2019). Luonnonmarjojen ja -sienten kauppaantulomäärät vuonna 2018. Ruokavirasto, 3/2019. 65 p.

Martínez de Aragón, J., Bonet, J.A., Fischer, C.R., Colinas, C. (2007). Productivity of ectomycorrhizal and selected edible saprotrophic fungi in pine forests of the Pre-Pyrenees Mountains, Spain: predictive equations for forest management of mycological resources. Forest Ecology and Management 252: 239-256. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2007.06.040

Martínez-Peña, F., De-Miguel, S., Pukkala, T., Bonet, J., Ortega-Martínez, P., Aldea, J., de Aragón, J.M. (2012). Yield models for ectomycorrhizal mushrooms in *Pinus sylvestris* forests with special focus on *Boletus edulis* and *Lactarius* Group deliciosus. Forest Ecology and Management 282: 63–69. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2012.06.034

Martinez-Peña, F., Ágreda, T., Águeda, B., Ortega-Martínez, P., Fernández-Toirán, L.M. (2012). Edible sporocarp production by age class in a Scots pine stand in Northern Spain. Mycorrhiza 22: 167–174. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00572-011-0389-8

Miina, J., Hotanen, J.-P., Salo, K. (2009). Modelling the abundance and temporal variation in the production of bilberry (*Vaccinium myrtillus* L.) in Finnish mineral soil forests. Silva Fennica 43: 577–593. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.181

Miina, J., Pukkala, T., Kurttila, M. (2016). Optimal multi-product management of stands producing timber and wild berries. European Journal of Forest Research 135: 781-794. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10342-016-0972-9

Mithril, C., Dragsted, L.O., Meyer, C., Blauert, E., Holt, M.K., Astrup, A. (2012). Guidelines for the new nordic diet. Public Health Nutrition 15: 1941–1947. https://doi.org/10.1017/S136898001100351X

Nichiforel, L., Keary, K., Deuffic, P., Weiss, G., Thorsen, B.J., Winkel, G., Avdibegović, M., Dobšinská, Z., Feliciano, D., Gatto, P. Gorriz Mifsud, E., Hoogstra-Klein, M., Hrib, M., Hujala, T., Jager, L., Jarský, V., Jodłowski, K., Lawrence, A., Lukmine, D., Pezdevsek Malovrh, S., Nedeljkovic, E., Nonic, D., Krajter Ostojc, S., Pukall, L., Rondeux, J., Samara, T., Sarvašová, S., Scriban, R.E., Šilingienė, R., Sinko, M., Stojanovska, M., Stojanovska, V., Stoyanov, N., Teder, M., Vennesland, B., Vilkriste, L., Wilhelmsson, E., Wilkes-Allemann, J., Bouriaud, L. (2018). How Private are Europe's Private Forests? A Comparative Property Rights Analysis. Land Use Policy 76: 535-552. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2018.02.034

Norwell, L.L., Exeter, R.L. (2004). Ectomycorrhizal epigeous basidiomycete diversity in Oregon coast range *Pseudotsuga Menziesii* forests - preliminary observations. Memoirs of the New York Botanical Garden 89: 159–189.

Ogaya, R., Peñuelas, J. (2005). Decreased mushroom production in a holm oak forest in response to an experimental drought. Forestry 78: 279–283. https://doi.org/10.1093/forestry/cpi025

Ohenaoja, E., Metsänheimo, K. (1982). Phenology and fruiting body production of macrofungi in subarctic Finnish Lapland. In: Larsen, G.A., Ammirati, J.F., (ed.). Arctic and Alpine Mycology, University of Washington, Seattle, pp. 390–404.

Ohenaoja, E. (1988). Effects of forest management procedures on fungal fruit body production in Finland. Acta Botanica Fennica 136: 81–84.

Ohenoja, E. (1984). Fruit body production of larger fungi in Finland. 1. Introduction to the Study in 1976–978. Annals Botanica Fennici 21: 349–355.

Ohenoja, E. (1993). Effect of Weather Conditions on the Larger Fungi at Different Forest Sites in Northern Finland in 1976-1988. Acta Universitas Ouluensis A 243: 1-69 + appendices.

Ohenoja, E. (2005). Sienisadoista. In: Salo, P., Niemelä, T., Nummela-Salo, U., (ed.). Suomen Helttasienten Ja Tattien Ekologia, Levinneisyys Ja Uhanalaisuus. Suomen ympäristökeskus: 769. Helsinki, pp. 62–67.

Ostrom, E., Burger, J., Field, C.B., Noorgaard, R.B., Policansky, D. (1999). Revisiting the Commons: Local Lessons, Global Challenges. Science 284: 278–282. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.284.5412.278

Palahí, M., Pukkala, T., Bonet, J.A., Colinas, C., Fischer, C.R., Martinez de Aragón, J. (2009). Effect of the inclusion of mushrooms values on the optimal management of evenaged pine stands of Catalonia. Forest Science 55: 503–511.

Parladé, J., Martinez-Peña, F., Pera, J. (2017). Effect of forest management and climatic variables on the mycelium dynamics and sporocarp production of the ectomycorrhizal fungus *Boletus edulis*. Forest Ecology and Management 390: 73–79. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2017.01.025

Paulus, A.L., Ohenoja, E., Tikkinen, S., Roitto, M., Sippola, A.L. (1995). The influence of forest felling on the fruitbody production of larger fungi in northern Lapland. In: Sippola, A.L., Alaraudanjoki, P., Forbes, B., Hallikainen, V. (ed.). Northern Wilderness Areas: Ecology, Sustainability, Values. Aktisen keskuksen julkaisuja 7: Rovaniemi pp. 44–51.

Peintner, U., Schwarz, S., Mešić, A., Moreau, P.A., Moreno, G., Saviuc, P. (2013). Mycophilic Or Mycophobic? Legislation and Guidelines on Wild Mushroom Commerce Reveal Different Consumption Behaviour in European Countries. PLoS One 8(5): e63926. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0063926

Peltola, R., Hallikainen, V., Tuulentie, S., Naskali, A., Manninen, O., Similä, J. (2014). Social licence for the utilization of wild berries in the context of local traditional rights and the interests of the berry industry. Barents Studies 1(2): 24–49.

Peura, M., Triviño, M., Mazziotta, A., Podkopaev, D., Juutinen, A., Mönkkönen, M. (2016). Managing boreal forests for the simultaneous production of collectable goods and timber revenues. Silva Fennica 50(5): 1672. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1672

Pilz, D., Molina, R. (2002). Commercial harvests of edible mushrooms from the forests of the Pacific Northwest United States: issues, management, and monitoring for sustainability. Forest Ecology and Management 155: 3–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(01)00543-6

Pilz, D., Molina, R., Mayo, J. (2006). Effects of young forests on chanterelle mushroom production. Journal of Forestry 104: 9–14.

Primicia, I., Camarero, J.J., Martinez de Aragón, J., De-Miguel, S., Bonet, J.A. (2016). Linkages between climate, seasonal wood formation and mychorrizal mushroom yields. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 228-229: 339–348. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agrformet.2016.07.013 Pukkala, T. (2002). Multi-objective forest planning. Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht. pp. 207. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-9906-1

Rämö, A.K., Horne, P., Primmer, E. (2013). Yksityismetsänomistajien näkemykset metsistä saatavista hyödyistä. PTT raportteja 241. 107p.

Rantanen, P., Valkonen, J. (2013). Ulkomaalaisten marjanpoimijoiden ja suomalaisen maaseudun kohtaaminen. Maaseudun uusi aika 21: 85–90.

Rautavaara, T. (1947). Suomen Sienisato: tutkimuksia sen laadusta, suuruudesta, käytöstä ja arvosta. WSOY, Porvoo.

Ristioja, A. (2018). Toimialaraportti: Luonnontuoteala, Kevät 2018. Työ- ja elinkeinoministeriö 2. 48p.

Rowland, D., Ickowitz, A., Powell, B., Nasi, R., Sunderland, T. (2017). Forest foods and healthy diets: quantifying the contributions. Environmental conservation 44: 102–114. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892916000151

Suositeltavat ruokasienet. (2019). Ruokavirasto https://www.ruokavirasto.fi/henkiloasiakkaat/tietoaelintarvikkeista/elintarvikeryhmat/ruokasienet/suositeltavat-ruokasienet/ [Cited: 24th September 2019]

Salerni, E., Perini, C. (2004). Experimental study for increasing productivity of *Boletus Edulis* s. L. in Italy. Forest Ecology and Management 201: 161–170. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2004.06.027

Salo, K. (1988). Sienilajisto ja -sato Ylä-Karjalan metsä- ja suotyypeillä 1981–1984. Lisensiaattitutkielma. Helsingin yliopisto. 213 p.

Salo, K. (1993). Yields of commercial edible mushroom species in mineral soil forests in Finland 1985–1986. Aquilo Series Botanica 31: 115–121.

Salo, K. (1995). Non-timber forest products and their utilization. In: Hytönen, M. (ed.). Multiple-use forestry in the Nordic Countries. The Finnish Forest Research Institute. Helsinki, pp. 117–155.

Sato, H., Morimoto, S., Hattori, T. (2012). A Thirty-year survey reveals that ecosystem function of fungi predicts phenology of mushroom fruiting. PLoS ONE 7(11): e49777. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0049777

Savoie, J.M., Largeteau, M.L. (2011). Production of edible mushrooms in forests: trends in development of a mycosilviculture. Applied Microbiology and Biotechnology 89: 971–979. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-3022-4 Schulp, C.J.E., Thuiller, W., Verburg, P.H. (2014). Wild food in Europe: A synthesis of knowledge and data of terrestrial wild food as an ecosystem service. Ecological Economics 105: 292–305. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2014.06.018

Searle, S.R., Casella, G., McGulloch, C.E. (1992). Variance Components. Wiley, New York, 501 p. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470316856

Senn-Irlet, B., Bieri, G. (1999). Sporocarp succession of soil-inhabiting macrofungi in an autochthonous subalpine Norway spruce forest of Switzerland. Forest Ecology and Management 124: 169–175. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0378-1127(99)00064-X

Sievänen, T., Pouta, M., Neuvonen, M. (2004). Participation in mushroom picking in Finland. In: Ito, T., Tanaka, N., (ed.). Social roles of forests for urban population. Forest recreation, landscape, nature conservation, economic evaluation and urban forest. Japan society of forest planning press. Japan. pp. 122–137.

Sievänen, T., Neuvonen, M. (2011). Luonnon virkistyskäyttö 2010. Working papers of the Finnish Forest Institute 212: 190 p.

Silvennoinen, H., Sievänen, T. (2011). Ulkoilu luonnossa ykistyisten omistamilla alueilla. In: Sievänen, T., Neuvonen, M. (ed.). Luonnon Virkistyskäyttö 2010. Working papers of Metla 212: 111–123.

Sitta, N., Floriani, M. (2008). Nationalization and globalization trends in the wild mushroom commerce of Italy with emphasis on porcini (*Boletus edulis* and allied species). Economic botany 62: 307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12231-008-9037-4

Sitta, N., Davoli, P. (2012). Edible ectomycorrhizal mushrooms: international markets and regulations. In: Zambonelli, A., Bonito, G.M. (ed.). Edible Ectomycorrhizal Mushrooms: Current Knowledge and Future Prospects. 34th ed. Amity University, Uttar Pradesh, Noida, UP, India. pp. 355–380. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33823-6_20

Smith, J.E., Molina, R., Huso, M.M.P., Luoma, D.L., McKay, D., Castellano, M.A., Lebel, T., Valachovic, Y. (2002). Species richness, abundance, and composition of hypogeous and epigeous ectomycorrhizal fungal sporocarps in young, rotation-age, and old-growth stands of douglas-fir (*Pseudotsuga menziesii*) in the cascade range of Oregon, U.S.A. Canadian Journal of Botany 80: 186–204. https://doi.org/10.1139/b02-003

Smith, S.E., Read, D.J. (1997) Mycorrhizal Symbiosis. 2. Ed. Academic Press: San Diego (Calif.) pp. ix, 605.

State of Europe's Forests 2015. (2015). Forest Europe Liaison Unit Madrid. Ministerial Conference on the Protection of Forests in Europe. https://foresteurope.org/state-europes-forests-2015-report/ [Cited: 24th May 2019].

Sténs, A., Sandström, C. (2013). Divergent interests and ideas around property rights: the case of berry harvesting in Sweden. Forest Policy and Economics 33: 56–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2012.05.004 Straatsma, G., Ayer, F., Egli, S. Species richness, abundance, and phenology of fungal fruit bodies over 21 years in a Swiss forest plot. Mycological Research 105: 515–523. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0953756201004154

Stryamets, N., Elbakindze, M., Angelstam, P. (2011). Role of non-wood forest products for local livelihoods in countries with transition and market economies: case studies in Ukraine and Sweden. Scandinavian Journal of Forest Research 27: 74–87. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0953756201004154

Tahvanainen, V., Kurttila, M. (2015). Metsänomistajien näkemys luonnontuotteisiin perustuvista liiketoimintamahdollisuuksista. In: Luonnontuotealan Valtakunnallinen Tutkimusseminaari 2015. Luonnonvara- ja Biotalouden Tutkimus 22/2017. pp. 30–32.

Tahvanainen, V., Kurttila, M., Miina, J., Salo, K. 2016. Non-wood forest products boosting the North Karelian bioeconomy. Booklet. Natural Resources Institute Finland. Joensuu, Finland.

Tomao, A., Bonet, J.A., Martínez de Aragón, J., de-Miguel, S. (2017). Is silviculture able to enhance wild forest mushroom resources? Current knowledge and future perspectives. Forest Ecology and Management 402: 102–114. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0953756201004154

Turtiainen, M., Saastamoinen, O., Kangas, K., Vaara, M. (2012). Picking of wild edible mushrooms in Finland in 1997–1999 and 2011. Silva Fennica 46: 569–581. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0953756201004154

Turtiainen, M., Miina, J., Salo, K., Hotanen, J. (2013). Empirical prediction models for the coverage and yields of cowberry in Finland. Silva Fennica 47(3):1005. https://doi.org/10.14214/sf.1005

Tuulentie, S., Rantala, O. (2013). Will "free entry into the forest" remain?. In: Müller, D.K., Lundmark, L., Lemelin, R.H. (ed.). New issues in polar tourism. Communities, environments, politics. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 177–188. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-5884-1_12

Tuunanen, P., Tarasti, M., Rautiainen, A. (2015). Everyman's rights and the code of conduct on private land. Existing legislation and suggestions for best practices. Ministry of Environment, Helsinki, 141p.

Vantomme, P. (2003). Compiling statistics on non-wood forest products as policy and decision-making tools at the national level. International Forestry Review 5: 156–160. https://doi.org/10.1505/IFOR.5.2.156.17412

Väre, H., Ohenoja, E., Ohtonen, R. (1996). Macrofungi of oligotrophic scotch pine forests in Northern Finland. Karstenia 36: 1–18. https://doi.org/10.29203/ka.1996.315

Vidale, E., Da Re, R., Corradini, G., Pettenella, D. (2016). NWFP Sector Recommendations. StarTree deliverable D 3.6. 21 p.

Viljanen, P., Rautiainen, A. (2007). Jokamiehenoikeuden Toimivuus. Ympäristöministeriön raportteja 19/2007.36p.

Voces, R., Diaz-Balteiro, L., Alfranca, O. (2012). Demand for wild edible mushrooms. The case of *Lactarius deliciosus* in Barcelona (Spain). Journal of Forest Economics 18: 47–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfe.2011.06.003

Vuokila, Y., Väliaho, H. (1980). Growth and yield models for conifer cultures in Finland. Communicationes Instituti Forestalis Fenniae 99: 271.

Wang, Y., Hall, I.R. (2004). Edible ectomycorrhizal mushrooms: challenges and achievements. Canadian Journal of Botany 82: 1063–1073. https://doi.org/10.1139/b04-051

Waring, R.H. (1987). Characteristics of trees predisposed to die: stress causes distinctive changes in photosynthate allocation. Bioscience8: 569–574. https://doi.org/10.2307/1310667

Wiklund, K., Nilsson, L.O., Jacobsson, S. (1995). Effect of irrigation, fertilization, and artificial drought on basidioma production in a Norway spruce stand. Canadian Journal of Botany 73: 200–208. https://doi.org/10.1139/b95-023

Wolfslehner, B., Huber, P., Sheppard, J., Pettenella, D., Prokofieva, I., Weiss, G., Mavsar, R. (2014). D6.3 StarTree Conseptual Paper on Multi - Purpose Trees and NWFP in Europe., StarTree Deliverable D6.3.